
APPROVED MEETING MINUTES 

Page 1 of 35 
 

TOWN OF APEX 
PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

MONDAY, AUGUST 11, 2025 
4:30 PM 

  
The Apex Planning Board met on Monday, August 11, 2025 at 4:30 PM in the Council 
Chamber at Apex Town Hall, located at 73 Hunter Street in Apex, North Carolina.  
  
This meeting was open to the public. Members of the public were able to attend this meeting 
in-person or watch online via the livestream on the Town’s YouTube Channel. The recording of 
this meeting can be viewed here: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jQVD53MGVBQ . 
  
[ATTENDANCE]  
  
Board Members  
Tina Sherman, Chair  
Tim Royal, Vice-Chair  
Keith Braswell  
Steven Rhodes  
Sarah Soh  
Alyssa Byrd  
Daniel Khodaparast  
Preston Mitchell  
Jeff Hastings (Wake County Representative)  
Mary Petersen, Apex Historical Society Representative  
  
Town Staff  
Planning Director Dianne Khin  
Assistant Planning Director Amanda Bunce  
Long Range Planning Manager Shannon Cox  
Senior Planner Long Range Jenna Shouse  
Planner III Lauren Staudenmaier  
Planner II Bruce Venable  
Traffic Engineering Manager Russell Dalton  
  
All other staff members will be identified appropriately below.  
  
[COMMENCEMENT]  
  

Chair Sherman called the meeting to order at 4:30 p.m. Chair Sherman offered a 
moment of silence and led the Pledge of Allegiance.    
  

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jQVD53MGVBQ


APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 2 of 35 
 

 [ITEMS OF INFORMATION]  
 

Shannon Cox, Long-Range Planning Manager, introduced the new Long-Range 
Planner II, Chris Watson. She said this was his second week with the town and will be 
focusing on community engagement. She asked all to welcome Chris. 

 
Planning Director, Dianne Khin introduced new Planning Board Member, Mary 

Petersen. She said that Mrs. Peterson has joined the Planning Board as a representative of 
the Apex Historical Society and her role on the Planning Board is to be a guiding voice for 
town officials regarding the town’s Historical structures and geographic area while supporting 
the Apex Historical Society mission of preserving, protecting and promoting the history of 
Apex. She welcomed Mrs. Peterson.  

 
Amanda Bunce, Assistant Planning Director, read an NCDOT press release about 

the culvert that failed on Olive Chapel Road issued on August 7th, at the request of Chair Tina 
Sherman.  

 
Chair Tina Sherman noted that WRAL is reporting that NC DOT is expected to 

provide an update by September on the timeline to reopen the road.  
 
Chair Tina Sherman shared that she will be resigning at adjournment on 8.11.2025 as 

she is returning to school. She stated that it has been a pleasure to serve the citizens of Apex.  
  
[PUBLIC COMMENT] 
  

Chair Sherman opened the floor for anyone to speak on non-agenda items, no one 
came forward, so public comment was closed.  
  
[CONSENT]  
 
 Chair Sherman asked for a motion to approve the meeting minutes from the July 14, 
2025 Planning Board meeting.  
 

A motion was made by Member Hastings and seconded by Member Soh to 
approve meeting minutes from July 14, 2025, regular meeting.  
  
VOTE: UNANIMOUS (10-0)  
  
[PUBLIC HEARINGS]  
  
PH1 - ITEM NO. 1 - TRANSPORTATION PLAN AMENDMENTS  
 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 3 of 35 
 

Shannon Cox, Long Range Planning Manager, presented a possible motion 
regarding amendments to the Transit Plan Map and Bicycle and Pedestrian System Plan Map 
of the Apex Transportation Plan associated with the Apex Mobility Hub. Planning staff 
recommended approval of the amendments.  

 
[SLIDE 1] 

 
[SLIDE 2] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 4 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 3] 

 
[SLIDE 4] 

  
 Vice-Chair Royal said that the grade separations will take up quite a bit of space and 
asked if the space was already dedicated or would there need to have additional property 
acquired. 
 Ms. Cox said that many of these recommendations would require some type of 
property acquisition or easement. She said there would be more design work done in the 
future to be able to determine exactly what properties would be needed. She said that there 
would be discussions with the railroad, DOT, and adjacent property owners in some cases.  
 Member Byrd asked if there were any projects currently in review that this 
transportation project would impact. 
 Ms. Cox said that she was not aware of any projects currently.  
 Member Rhodes said that there was single-family development going along Elm 
Street by the railroad tracks.  
 Ms. Khin said that all but maybe one of those lots are developed.  
 Chair Sherman asked if the project was in the side path.  



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 5 of 35 
 

 Ms. Cox said that the side path location is proposed for the west side of Elm Street, so 
it would be adjacent to the railroad track side.  
 Chair Sherman asked how it will be communicated to property owners this 
information during the period where development has been approved and when it is 
underway and owners may or may not have taken possession of these lots yet.  
 Ms. Cox said there would be public review, public notification and public meetings.  
 Ms. Bunce verified that there was a house on the lot mentioned above and it is still 
owned by the builder, so the property ownership would not have changed since the 
communication went out. 
 Member Soh asked what the timeline would be for the Mobility Hub Plan. 
 Ms. Cox said that the Mobility Hub Plan proposes this in phases, and the first phase is 
not funded at this time.  
 Member Braswell asked for details of the current location where there is a CSX.  
 Ms. Cox said this was the most detailed study that has been done to date and how 
sites would function for possible passenger rail. She said that one of the details that came out 
was when a train is coming in or is stopped, how it would impact the downtown grid. She said 
at that location, there would need to be closure at multiple road crossings. She added that 
there were rail engineers working on the Mobility Hub plan and the function of the railroad 
there. Switches would be difficult to add the passenger station.  
 
 Chair Sherman opened Public Hearing and closed Public Hearing with no one signed 
up to speak. She brought the item back to the Board for discussion and possible motion.  
  

A motion was made by Member Byrd and seconded by Member Mitchell to 
recommend approval to the amendments to the Transit Plan Map, Bicycle and Pedestrian 
System Plan Map and the Apex Transportation Plan.  

 
 VOTE: UNANIMOUS (10-0)  
  
ITEM NO. 2 – Rezoning Case #25CZ07 1211 Old Raleigh Road 
 

Lauren Staudenmaier, Planner III, presented Rezoning Case #25CZ07 1211 Old 
Raleigh Road-The applicant, Dan Morse along with his agent Zak Shipman, Shipman 
Engineering, PLLC seek to rezone approximately ±6.40 acres from Residential Agricultural 
(RA) to Medium Density Residential-Conditional Zoning (MD-CZ). The property is located at 
1211 Old Raleigh Road. The rezoning is consistent with the 2045 Land Use Map. Planning 
Staff recommended approval of the rezoning.  



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 6 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 1] 

 
[SLIDE 2] 

 
[SLIDE 3] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 7 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 4] 

  
[SLIDE 5] 

 
[SLIDE 6] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 8 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 7] 

 
[SLIDE 8] 

  
 Ms. Staudenmaier asked if there were any questions. 
 Chair Sherman said that there was a concern around speed limit change at one of the 
neighborhood meetings and asked if there was any follow up with staff. 
 Ms. Staudenmaier said that she would confirm with Mr. Dalton to see if there had 
been any discussion. 
 Mr. Dalton said that there had not been a conversation about the speed limit change.  
  
 Chair Sherman opened Public Hearing and allowed the applicant to come up and 
speak.  
 
 Zak Shipman with Shipman Engineering representing the applicant spoke: 
 “I appreciate your consideration of this project today. Before I forget the speed limit 
conversation, we have not had that conversation yet. My understanding is that that process 
can be quite complicated. We can absolutely have that conversation before the Town Council 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 9 of 35 
 

meeting with Russell Dalton to discuss that speed limit change. As far as this project goes, we 
had a lot of feedback from the neighbors about preserving existing tree canopy and 
vegetation as well as capping the density, and so we've proposed a number of conditions 
that do just that. We're proposing more resource conservation area than is required by code. 
We're really capping that density. I think the density is allowed at six and we've conditioned it 
out at three. In practicality, we can only fit three lots on this property. So that if for some 
reason this rezoning goes through and for whatever reason it's not us that develops this, that 
density would be capped pretty low, but three lots is really all that this will fit. There's a fair 
number of wetlands and riparian buffers and surface waters and streams and those kinds of 
things, we're not proposing to touch any of those. Our intention is to leave the existing pond. 
We have no intention of draining it. The only consideration that we would have to make is if 
that dam is safe. If it's seeping or leaking or proposes some danger to downstream 
properties, we might have to do something to it, but as of right now, we have no intention of 
draining or touching that pond. Lauren touched on one of the conditions we've offered up 
about no development east or north of that riparian buffer. That really restricts the 
developable area of this site, and then it allows us to preserve as much existing vegetation 
and tree canopy as we can. I'm available to answer any questions. Dan Morse is the applicant. 
He's here with us tonight and we'll answer any questions you might have.” 
 
 Chair Sherman opened up for discussion from the Board. 
 Member Byrd said that condition #10 says that in the event that you construct a 
public street, you would have to do a stub out, but it looks like in the preliminary plans, that is 
not correct.   
 Mr. Shipman said that was correct, there is no room to put a street and there is no 
intention of putting in a public street. 
 Member Khodaparast asked if there would be a fee in lieu or any widening? 
 Mr. Shipman said that if they have to do any widening it would be done in front of the 
three lots, and they would dedicate the right-of-way for the ultimate section for the rest of the 
frontage.  
 Chair Sherman said that she was concerned about the questions that came up at the 
neighborhood meeting about the speed limit hasn’t been addressed and before this item 
goes to Council that this will be addressed. She asked if this property sits in a flood plain. 
 Mr. Shipman said that he didn’t believe there were any flood zones on this property. 
 Chair Sherman asked Mr. Shipman to get some additional information on the flood 
plain.  
 Member Mitchell asked Chair Sherman for more information on the request to lower 
the speed limit on Old Raleigh Road.  
 Chair Sherman said when questions are raised at the neighborhood meeting then 
she expects the developer to come before the Board with those questions answered. She 
said that she takes these concerns very seriously.  
  



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 10 of 35 
 

 Member Byrd said that according to the town’s road ownership on GIS that Old 
Raleigh Road is controlled by the State.  
 Member Mitchell said that just because this is a major thoroughfare doesn't mean 
that people should speed. It should be part of the conversation. 
 Chair Sherman said she appreciated Member Mitchell lifting this up and hopes that 
will be part of the conversation. 
 Mr. Shipman apologized for the oversight of this, and the conversation will be held 
right after this meeting.  
 Chair Sherman said that she did not expect the neighbors to know this information 
but expect that in our capacity they are informed. 
 Member Khodaparast asked when Old Apex Road would be widened. 
 Mr. Shipman said that he did not know the answer and deferred to Mr. Dalton. 
 Mr. Dalton said that there was no funding in the CIP so it could be beyond 10 years.  
  
 Chair Sherman called the next speaker. 
 
 Next to speak Courtney Lemanski, Secretary for the HOA of Shepherd’s Vineyard: 
 “I am here to represent some of our residents about our concerns about the pond, 
about the streamway, that kind of thing. Actually, my house is just right here at the edge of 
Bridgeham Way, at one of the town easements that goes into the flood plain that is behind 
Shepherd's Vineyard. Shepherd's Vineyard Greenway is, and the creek behind it is, an 
unnamed tributary of Swift Creek. We accept waters from Food Lion, Grand Central Station, 
even this property. All goes behind Shepherd's Vineyard. While I hear there is a plan to leave 
the dam, leave the pond, that's all great. But what will we be doing about the thousands of 
gallons that will be coming into this flood plain? Shepherd's Vineyard already struggles with 
flooding down towards the end, which is about a mile down, because that's where we accept 
everyone else's. Because at one point for our community, it was just Food Lion, right? It was 
just a daycare, now it's just three houses, but we're still accepting all that water. We can't just 
accept more water. Some of our houses will flood. The town utility switchbacks, the primary 
switchbacks for Wellstone Circle, Apache Lane, Smokewood, and Chimney Hill are on our 
greenway that also accepts the water that would come downhill from this pond. I'm not 
saying that it's all of it. But I am saying that we can't just leave it and hope that it works, that 
we wait for the dam to go. Are there any provisions, like an escrow set aside for this dam for 
when it goes because of this excessive gallon? Is there any kind of repair work to this pond 
that we as residents and neighbors, that we can expect to see, especially with the widening, 
as well as a possibility of speeding? Being someone that lives so close to this property, I can 
tell you that this Apex Peakway where it meets Old Raleigh Road, that's where the little girl 
was hit on the Fourth of July. So, as far as not even stormwater runoff, but considering that 
widening with the speeding, it will help the stormwater and help with our safety in this 
particular part of the neighborhood. I guess my question being, what are our provisions for 
this pond, for this water, for the speed, ten years from now, fifteen years from now?” 
  



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 11 of 35 
 

Chair Sherman thanked the speaker and called the next speaker. 
 
 Next to speak Bob Wolfe, of 1002 Wellstone Circle: 
 “My concern in this project is density from two points of view. One, I go back before 
the Food Lion. So, I've been there for a long time. That's been a flood plain for a good 
number of years, forever. I've got friends that tell me they used to play down there when they 
were boys growing up here. It's always been marshy. The flooding has dramatically increased 
over the 30 years that I've been there. It's always been there, but we've been told time and 
time again that none of the development up here has anything to do with that flooding. Well, 
they just need to come down there and see it, because it didn't used to be this bad. And so 
now we're coming to bring in more development that's going to cause more flooding. Last 
week, the water was over a couple of bridges on our greenway. It was that bad. So, more 
density is going to create more problems. It's going to create more water runoff. And just as 
Courtney said, the backyards of some people's houses that back up to that are getting 
flooded already, and it can come all the way up into their houses if it continues to get worse. 
The second point on the density thing for me is, I can see maybe one or two houses there. But 
from what I remember years ago, all this development over here where all these townhouses 
are was originally supposed to be a mixed development of businesses with condominiums 
on the top. Somehow, and I never heard how or why, that got changed and now we have a 
monstrosity of nothing but townhouses over there that does not look good and we're 
concerned, as a neighborhood that backs up to all of this, about the density, about people 
coming in, even though it's supposed to be now you're saying three lots and that's it, of that 
being overturned somehow, because it's happened before and that's a problem. Not to 
mention the fact that it just doesn't look good. I'm on a board out in Snowmass, Colorado, 
and we're fighting some of the same things as far as density on a couple of issues out there, 
and I know that people don't always look at what's going on like that, and I actually used this 
as an example of density gone awry when I was speaking to that town council out there on 
behalf of our board. So, the density is a problem for the flooding issue, number one. But also, 
that's a nice residential area all along Old Raleigh Road out there and if we come in there and 
put more density and things on there, and that's not taken care of ahead of time in the 
planning where it specifically says that this has to be done this way, then we're just creating 
more problems and not helping the beauty of our area and our town. Thank you.” 
 
 

Chair Sherman thanked the speaker and called the next speaker. 
 
 Next to speak Nick Bryant of 1023 New Dover Road: 
 
 “I do back up directly to this property. Development is almost inevitable in Apex. 
Seeing some of the other projects that are happening specifically along Saunders Street with 
row houses and the potential for that to happen behind my own home, I'm not really excited 
about, so, for this project, I'm happy with the three units, I think that's a good approach. 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 12 of 35 
 

However, I'm learning tonight that the study in the pond may open that up in the future, and if 
that pond is opened up and drained, that only gives opportunity for more development, 
more homes. So instead of developing a third of the property, we're looking at two-thirds of 
the property, and therefore more runoff and more development. So, my concern is more 
around finding a way for moving forward, the HOA or whomever is in charge of the excess 
two-thirds of the property, that they can't develop that in the future. That's really my only 
concern. Thank you.” 
 
 

Chair Sherman thanked the speaker and called the next speaker. 
 Next to speak Glenn Maass of 1013 Wellstone Circle: 
 
 “Hello, my name is Glenn Maass and we've been here — I've been here in Apex for 30 
years. We have a landscape company here in the town and we've been enjoying the town 
since day one. I'm also the president of the HOA for the community of Shepherd's Vineyard, 
which we have thousands of people there, and a lot of us are original to the subdivision here 
in Apex. I have a lot of concerns about this property. In fact, this is one of these properties that 
we've been praying would never be developed. This whole area here is actually historical. We 
tried to fight back even Edwards Creek because that's where the old grist mill used to be, and 
honestly, this whole section used to probably be the high point of Apex where the watershed 
starts on the top, and this pond here has been here probably before the town was here. This 
pond holds a lot of the water for that entire bank there and probably a lot around it and 
contributes to our creek, which goes to Swift Creek, which splits into the Neuse and Cape 
Fear River. Now the town, this is a new board, so I don't fault you, but I mean, I've been 
working here in this town for decades. My biggest pet peeve is a lot of times these ponds are 
covered up, and shame on them because they're not meant to be covered up, because a lot 
of them are there naturally, but anyway, this pond, we can't afford to cover it up and we don't 
even know how they're going to squeeze any development in this lot. But I am okay with the 
low impact because I understand that development has to happen. Now when I heard earlier 
you said, "medium density," we have been told "low density." So already we're getting 
concerned about the little jump in the language and also, some people understand it 
because I've talked to all the people that live over here and we were told that these are three 
lots and three houses, now it's three per lot. So sadly, we just have a lot of, I guess, mistrust 
and we just want the board to really be diligent on this one to try to save this property for low 
density and really be concerned about the buffers and really be concerned about trees. Most 
of these trees in here, several of them, I don't mean to bore you guys, but I'm a horticulturist. 
So, the trees have been there for hundreds of years. And if you take away the trees, you're 
going to have more runoff into that pond, which is really going to break that dam easily. But 
I'm going to leave it up to you guys to get your experts. I think we even tried to call out the 
EPA to see if they can come help us coordinate to see what we're up against. Anyway, I 
appreciate your time and just really, we want to babysit this because we're really worried 
about it. I only live up the road, just on the other side of Heatherwood, and we feel like there's 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 13 of 35 
 

a seven-acre lot there too that is residential and my fear is that someday that lot will be turned 
into a development and we'll be dealing with the same nonsense or worries that we have with 
this seven-acre lot and we just want the town maybe to try to save Old Raleigh Road because 
it is old and you have to leave some integrity in the town to beautification, trees, ponds and 
not just run it down and destroy it all. Thank you.” 
 
 Chair Sherman clarified with Mr. Maass that the 2045 Land Use Map classifies this 
area as Medium Density Residential. She asked if there was anyone else that would like to 
speak. 
 
 Next speaker was Warren Harvey of 1015 New Dover Road: 
 
 “I live also backed up right to the pond there in that neighborhood and I appreciate 
both the planning board and the developer for the information we've gotten ahead of time, 
it's been really helpful. I just want to clarify a couple things I've heard from comments and 
then from the applicant, and that is my understanding is it is still being proposed for just three 
lots and not three per lot. I just want to clarify that and make sure I'm hearing the right thing 
because I would have some concern for that. And I would just say too, I think that pond has 
been, we live right up behind the pond and right on the stream that comes right behind our 
house. We have not had any flooding problems, I recognize that happens further down on 
our greenway, and I think that is something to take into consideration, but I feel like this pond 
really helps to spread that out and so I would also just be in favor of seeing the developers 
keep that pond and have some way to manage that because I do think it's an asset in that, but 
I also just wanted to ask the further clarification on the number of lots that are being 
proposed. Thank you.” 
 
 Chair Sherman said that she believes it is three houses but wanted to verify this with 
Mr. Shipman.  
 Mr. Shipman clarified that there are only three houses and one unit per lot. He also 
verified that this property was not in a flood zone. He said that the intention with the pond is 
to leave it as it is and the only scenario where there would be any modifications to the pond is 
if it were seeping and it was a danger to residents or if burst and if it for whatever reason it 
had to be drained because the dam was unsafe, the natural drainage channel would reform 
and that channel would carry a riparian buffer as well. He said because of the riparian buffer 
condition, there could not be any development north. He said that there would be a storm 
water basin put in. He said that the discharge from the storm water pond will be engineered, 
and they would control the runoff and limit downstream impacts.  
 Chair Sherman asked what the flood zone is for this plan. 
 Mr. Shipman said that it is outside the 500-year flood plain. 
 Member Braswell asked if there were any trees on pond dam. 
 Mr. Shipman said that there may be some vegetation. 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 14 of 35 
 

 Member Braswell said that the option may be to take the trees down so that it did not 
take out the dam. He said that he was not aware of any seepage issues but will need to get a 
full evaluation done but wanted to wait until the rezoning was in place.  
 Member Byrd asked for any dam evaluations that can be provided and if it is drained, 
she asked if that required an upgrade to the storm water control measures. 
 Mr. Shipman said that it would change the riparian buffers on site and gave an 
overview of what would happen.  
 Member Mitchell asked who would retain the other existing parcels where the 
wetlands are and the stream travels from west to east and falls into the pond.   
 Mr. Shipman said that there would be HOA created for the three lots only and the 
balance of that land would go to the homeowner’s association. He said that area would be 
deeded as a private or common area and split with resource conservation area, and each of 
the homeowners will be assessed a fee that would go into a maintenance budget that would 
cover the liability of the pond.  
 Ms. Staudenmaier provided information related to how storm water will be reviewed 
during the process. She introduced Jessica Bolin, Stormwater Manger and asked that any 
follow-up questions be directed to Ms. Bolin.  
 Vice-Chair Royal asked what the limitations are to be able to maintain the dam.  
 Ms. Bolin said the dam is to be left untouched for safety reasons. 
 Vice-Chair Royal said that if the dam is left untouched and trees are growing in it, that 
could be detrimental. 
 Ms. Bolin said that is part of their entire evaluation that is needed before they get site 
plan approvals.  
 Chair Sherman asked if seepage was found what happened. 
 Ms. Bolin said that if the recommendation dam safety or the evaluation was to breach 
the dam and let the channel reform, that would be up to them, but whichever way the decide 
to go, staff would make sure that all regulations are followed and then wait 6 months to what 
forms and then 50’ off of the new stream bank would be untouched.  
 Vice-Chair Royal asked once this goes through the design phase would this catch 
100% of the runoff and then release it slowly.  
 Ms. Bolin said there is a point of analysis that staff will be looking at as plan reviewers 
as where the water leaves the site and at that point of analysis, it has to meet the precondition 
pre-development conditions for one-year storm, the 10-year storm, and the 25-year storm.  
 Vice-Chair Royal asked if there’s more water being added to the property than what’s 
being rained on there right now.  
 Ms. Bolin said that impervious service will be added and that is what needs to be 
treated with the SCM (Stormwater Control Measure) to meet that point of analysis to mimic 
the pre-development conditions. 
 Vice Chair Royal asked if there any ideas possible for any impervious surface like 
pavers instead of a standard driveway to minimize runoff. 
 Ms. Bolin said that there could be a requirement or a zoning condition that driveways 
are permeable pavements or pavers. 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 15 of 35 
 

 Member Mitchell said that staff and Board members generally understand the 
verbiage of stormwater and he asked if Ms. Bolin would address at a 101 level of how and 
why stormwater works as in the NC Law and not being able to prevent it and if water flows 
downhill you have to accept the water. He also asked for explanation of how that water is 
accepted and engineered in an area that is developed for residents.  
 Ms. Bolin said there are requirements in the UDO post-construction has to meet pre-
construction flows, for the one-year, 10-year and 25-year storm in the basin at that point of 
analysis where water leaves the site. She said this is up to the design engineer to follow the 
UDO and the NC Stormwater design manual and Apex has accepted as their design manual.  
 Member Byrd said that there was some concern from the public about the use of the 
property. She asked if townhouses would be allowed. 
 Ms. Staudenmaier said that no townhouses would be allowed, it would be only for 
single family residential houses and accessory apartments that could be attached or 
detached such as a mother-in-law's suite.  
 Member Mitchell asked Ms. Staudenmaier to explain change of plan or plans and 
how this could happen for any concerns that may arise. He asked her to also explain the 
ordinance process and the legal strength behind what it means if a rezoning is approved and 
becomes law.  
 Ms. Staudenmaier said this is rezoned by the property owner and even if it was sold 
down the road and someone wanted to redevelop it, this would still only be allowed to have 
a single family and the attached apartment and if they wanted to build townhomes, it would 
have to go through the entire public process for approval and not just a staff administrative 
process. 
 Member Mitchell asked if this gets approved for the three lots by Council and then it 
was decided to add a fourth lot, what would be that process. 
 Ms. Staudenmaier said that once this is approved and then there was changed to 
add another lot, it would have to go through the pre-application process to review all of the 
conditions and other UDO, transportation, stormwater requirements.  
 Chair Sherman said that she did not recall if she had closed Public Hearing. She then 
closed Public Hearing and brought it back to staff for discussion and possible motion.  
 Member Hastings said that the concern that residents brought up was the conditions 
offered by Shipman Engineering, which was 3 homes, but realistically given the 3 units per 
acre with 30% set aside of gross parcel to be preserved as RCA, it is 12 homes. He said that 
the condition doesn’t say maximum density of three units, it says three units per acre.  
 Mr. Shipman said that the goal is to put conditions that restrict development but still 
to have some flexibility if it is needed. He said the intent is only three lots, and 12 units will not 
physically fit. 
 Chair Sherman said that what is in writing is not what our intent is. 
 Mr. Shipman said that the site plan was meant as an illustration of what we intend to 
do and they understand that it is not binding and has not been reviewed.  He said that the 
intent was to say we’re trying to cut the density down from the medium density cap in order 
to say we want to demonstrate that they are trying to lower it.  



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 16 of 35 
 

 Chair Sherman asked if Member Hastings suggested maximum based on what is in 
the application 12 units could be on this property incorrect. 
 Mr. Shipman said that his assessment is correct for the maximum allowed. 
 Chair Sherman asked if Member Hastings assessment of maximum code allowed, not 
your intent, right. 
 Mr. Shipman said yes. 
 Chair Sherman asked if Mr. Shipman would put in writing that there would only be 
three units. 
 Mr. Shipman said that he would have to defer to his client. 
 The client said that the intent is to have three lots here. 
 Chair Sherman said that there could be a friendly amendment added. 
 Mr. Shipman said that a condition that says a three-lot maximum could be added.  
 Vice Chair Royal said that the SCM has to also be considered as a lot.  
 Ms. Khin said that is correct. 

Vice Chair Royal asked if that is three units plus ADUs? 
Ms. Bunce said three residential lots. 
Chair Sherman asked if there was a motion to include this condition. 
Member Byrd thanked Mr. Shipman for the willingness and openness with this being 

medium density allowing up to six units per acre and that he has cut this in half.  
Mr. Shipman said that they would be adding the condition to limit three buildable 

lots.  
Ms. Bunce said that the motion would indicate that the Board approves only if 

applicant amends the condition from three dwelling units per acre to three residential lots.  
Member Mitchell said that this discussion about this item was very beneficial. He said 

that the number of units and the density for the resource conservation area is large but 
severely limits the developability of this site.  
 

A motion was made by Member Braswell and seconded by Member Soh to 
recommend approval of Rezoning Case #25CZ07 1211 Old Raleigh Road with an additional 
condition to limit density to three residential lots. 
  
VOTE: (9-1) Chair Sherman dissented  
 
 Chair Sherman noted that she has concerns about the site being developed based 
on the potential of the dam. She said that there were covered up ponds that have been dried 
up for 10 years. She is concerned about additional flooding although she appreciates the 
work done by Stormwater staff.  
 Member Mitchell asked Chair Sherman that when there are items with significant 
numbers of concerned citizens to identify, no matter what the vote is, that there are additional 
public hearing opportunities coming. 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 17 of 35 
 

 Chair Sherman gave the date of August 26th at 6 p.m. for the Council meeting for 
another time for speaking and she gave other ways to weigh in as well. She then moved to 
New Business. 
  
[NEW BUSINESS]  
  
NB1 - Updates on Tingen Road Bicycle and Pedestrian Crossing  
 

Jenna Shouse, Senior Long Range Planner and Russell Dalton Traffic Engineering 
Manager, presented updates on the BO-2416 Tingen Road Bicycle and Pedestrian Crossing. 
Staff requested the Board to consider a motion to recommend that Town Council select the 
tunnel alternative, identified as Alternative 4, as the preferred alternative for the grade-
separated bicycle and pedestrian crossing of Tingen Road. 
[SLIDE 1] 

  
[SLIDE 2] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 18 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 3] 

 
[SLIDE 4] 

  
[SLIDE 5]  

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 19 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 6] 

 
 
 Russell Dalton, Traffic Engineer Manager gave this part of the presentation.  
[SLIDE 7] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 20 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 8] 

 
[SLIDE 9] 

 
[SLIDE 10] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 21 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 11] 

 
 Member Mitchell asked Mr. Dalton to go through how to get through the signalized 
intersection again. 
 Mr. Dalton said that at Justice Heights Street and Tingen Road there is currently a 
crosswalk to cross Salem Street. He explained that there is a refuge island and then a yield-
controlled pedestrian crossing so if you are on Tingen Road traveling toward downtown 
Apex, there is a slip right turn lane where you have to yield to pedestrians, so this is a 
combination of the two. 
 Member Mitchell asked if you were traveling from town on the right side of the street 
would you cross over into the refuge island. 
 Mr. Dalton said that in alternatives one and two that would be correct. He said in 
alternative three that there would have to be an additional crosswalk added.  
[SLIDE 12] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 22 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 13] 

 
 Mr. Dalton asked if there were any questions. 
 Member Petersen asked about the lighting and if it would be well lit for safety.  
 Mr. Dalton said that it would be along the greenway route, and they could explore 
pedestrian scale lighting like ballad lighting or shorter pedestrian area lighting. He said that 
they would bring this up with the consultant for the next phase. 
 Member Soh asked if there could be solar powered lights be an option. 
 Mr. Dalton said that this could be explored as well.  
 Member Petersen asked without a cross walk, how involved is it to make it possible to 
cross Tingen Road or Salem Road in terms of pedestrian safety and has the feasibility of 
what’s the best options for pedestrian safety been studied.  
 Mr. Dalton said that it has not been studied at this time, and the signal was originally 
installed as temporary traffic signal due to the volume that comes from Tingen Road, but 
Tingen Road will be closed to vehicular traffic. He gave other options that were being 
considered to address concerns about pedestrian safety.  
 Member Mitchell asked if the side path that traveled along the south side of Salem 
Street down towards that tank and beyond be the entry point from the intersection to where 
Salem Street bottoms out.  
 Member Byrd said that it does not go down that far, it is to the driveway by the water 
tower and not down to Salem Street. 
 Member Mitchell asked if Salem Street was a NC DOT road. 
 Mr. Dalton said that it was NC DOT. 
 Member Mitchell asked if there were plans to widen Salem Street in this area. 
 Mr. Dalton said there may be shoulder widening, but not street widening plans at this 
time.  
 Member Mitchell said that because of the volume in this area at peak times, having 
the path close to the road may be uncomfortable. He asked if all of the property is owned by 
the town or NC DOT. 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 23 of 35 
 

 Mr. Dalton said that the town owns the water tower property for all of the proposed 
alternatives. Further down Salem Street the town would have to acquire all or a portion of a 
parcel for all of the alternatives presented as well as the parcel on the other side of the 
railroad tracks, which is owned by Wake County Schools. He said during the design phase 
they would look at the verge utility strip width for pedestrians.  
 Ms. Shouse continued with the presentation.  
 
[SLIDE 14] 

 
[SLIDE 15] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 24 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 16] 

 
[SLIDE 17] 

 
[SLIDE 18] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 25 of 35 
 

 Ms. Shouse asked if there were any questions about public engagement.  
 Mr. Dalton continued with the presentation.  
 
[SLIDE 19] 

 
[SLIDE 20] 

 
 Mr. Dalton asked if there were any questions. 
 Member Rhodes asked if there were any mentions about if boring what the cost 
variance could be. 
 Mr. Dalton said boring may be comparable to or a little bit more expensive than 
doing open cut with jump spans and there is challenges with both. He said this will be 
something that will be talked with the consultant about if this moves to the next phase.  
 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 26 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 21] 

 
[SLIDE 22] 

 
[SLIDE 23] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 27 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 24] 

 
 Chair Sherman asked if there were any other questions for Ms. Shouse or Mr. Dalton. 
She then brought the item back to the Board for discussion or possible motion.  
 Member Byrd said that this was good for the area and the additional connectivity 
opening up pathways for pedestrians. 
 Member Khodaparast said this potentially being a safe route to the schools was a 
benefit especially considering the tunnel is a shorter length.  
  

A motion was made by Member Khodaparast and seconded by Member Royal to 
recommend approval of Alternative 4 (Alt4) for the grade separated bicycle and pedestrian 
crossing, attention road and proceed with functional design.  
  
VOTE: UNANIMOUS (10-0)  
  
NB2 - UDO Amendments  
 

Bruce Venable, Planner II, presented various amendments to the Unified 
Development Ordinance (UDO). Planning staff recommends approval. 
 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 28 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 1] 

 
[SLIDE 2] 

 
[SLIDE 3] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 29 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 4] 

 
[SLIDE 5] 

 
 Chair Sherman asked for information about the proposed cul-de-sac. 
 Mr. Venable explained that when evaluating the cul-de-sac, it is considered in not 
only the immediate area but also the impacts of transportation and mobility in surrounding 
areas. He said that there will not be cross-access so the cul-de-sac could limit connectivity, 
and all of the impacts should be considered before deciding if a cul-de-sac meets code 
requirements.  
 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 30 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 6] 

 
[SLIDE 7] 

 
[SLIDE 8] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 31 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 9] 

 
[SLIDE 10] 

 
[SLIDE 11] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 32 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 12] 

 
[SLIDE 13] 

 
[SLIDE 14] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 33 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 15] 

 
[SLIDE 16] 

 
[SLIDE 17] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 34 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 18] 

 
[SLIDE 19] 

 
[SLIDE 20] 

 



APPROVED | AUGUST 11, 2025 PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Page 35 of 35 
 

[SLIDE 21] 

 
 Mr. Venable said that it is felt that this is in line with current case law and asks that the 
Board recommend approval for the proposed zoning amendments. 
 Chair Sherman asked if there were any questions.  
 Member Byrd asked if this changes how the UDO is applied.  
 Mr. Venable said no it doesn’t change how the UDO is applied, he said that most 
districts like the town of Wake Forest use the word surrounding to mean interpretively “all the 
areas”. 
  

A motion was made by Member Byrd and seconded by Member Braswell to 
recommend approval of the proposed UDO amendments.  
  
VOTE: UNANIMOUS (10-0)   
 
 Vice-Chair Royal thanked Chair Sherman for her time and service to the Planning 
Board. The board gave a round of applause to Chair Sherman.  
  

A motion was made by Member Hastings and seconded by Member Royal to 
adjourn the Planning Board meeting at 6:53 PM  
  
VOTE: UNANIMOUS (10-0)  
   
  

Tim Royal  
Planning Board Vice-Chair  

  
  
Jeri Pederson  
Lead Planning Technician   
Submitted for approval by Jeri Pederson and approved on September 08, 2025 (consent).  


